**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
CASE NO. DA 21-0416**

JESS ROMO, et al.,

Plaintiffs/Appellees,

v.

USA BIOFUELS, LLC, Utah Limited Liability Corporation; VITALITY HEALTH, LLC; EUREKA 93, INC.; GREG RANGER; DAVID RENDIMONTI; COREY SHIRLEY; OWEN KENNEY; ROBERT LEAKER; SEAN POLI; STEPHEN ARCHAMBEAULT; KENT HOGGAN; VITALITY CBD NATURAL HEALTH PRODUCTS, INC.; SURETY LAND DEVELOPMENT, LLC, Utah Limited Liability Corporation; and JOHN DOES 11–15,

Defendants/Appellants.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Fifteenth Judicial District Court, Roosevelt County,
Docket No. DV-2018-45, the Honorable Judge Katherine Bidegaray, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

Mark D. Parker

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. WHETHER PLAINTIFFS MAY RECOVER DAMAGES IN TORT FOR CLAIMS ARISING SOLELY FROM CONTRACT AND BREACH OF CONTRACT.
2. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING, ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT, THREE MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS OF USA BIOFUELS, LLC, WITHOUT CONTROL OR MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY, WERE ALTER EGOS OF THE COMPANY.
3. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL BASED ON THE PLAINLY INCONSISTENT VERDICT.
4. WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE JURY AND, INSTEAD, RULING THAT THE EXACT INSTRUCTION MAY BE ARGUED TO THE JURY BY COUNSEL.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June 2018, the Plaintiffs filed a series of very similar lawsuits in five northeastern Montana counties. (Docs. 1–26, *Complaints*). Each Plaintiff alleged to have been a farmer who had entered into a hemp-growing contract with USA Biofuels, LLC (“USA Biofuels”) and that USA Biofuels breached the contract by not paying money. The suits were consolidated by stipulation. (Doc. 292, *Order for Consolidation*).

Procedurally, the long list of Defendants was split into three main categories. There was the class of unserved Defendants who remain unserved, safely north of the 49th parallel. USA Biofuels and its successor, Eureka 93, Inc. (“Eureka 93”) were

defaulted. David Rendimonti (“Rendimonti”) was served, defaulted, and a fellow judgment debtor. The third class consists of Defendants who were served, made their appearances, and went to trial. Surety Land Development (“Surety Land”), Kent Hoggan (“Hoggan”), Owen Kenney (“Kenney”), and Corey Shirley (“Shirley”), of the third category, appeared and defended the Complaints.

Trial was held in Roosevelt County, June 21–25, 2021, and all Defendants were assessed tort damages and punitive damages that totaled roughly \$65 million. (Appx. 118–29, *Final J.*). This brief is being filed and this appeal is being pursued on behalf of four different Defendants—Kenney, Hogan, Surety Land, and Shirley—seeking to reverse this monstrous judgment against them. Kenney, Hoggan, and Surety Land, as minority shareholders in USA Biofuels/Eureka 93, were adjudicated by way of summary judgment the alter ego of USA Biofuels/Eureka 93. (Appx. 32–34, *MSJ Order*). Shirley, having never held an equity interest in the company, escaped this fate.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Definition of Terms.

Given the number of Plaintiffs and Defendants in this case, it is necessary to group certain parties together for ease of understanding the various relationships.

Shareholder Defendants. The Shareholder Defendants are Hoggan, Surety

Land, and Kenney, and each is a party to this appeal. These Defendants each owned minority interests in the company ultimately referred to as Eureka 93 (Doc. 554, *FOF and Conclusions of Law*, pp. 2–3), collectively did not control a majority of the company, and never, during any relevant time, held power to run the company. (*Id.*; Doc. 409, *Kenney Aff.*, p. 4).

Corey Shirley. Corey Shirley is also a party to this appeal, but never had a financial stake in the outcome of any of these enterprises, other than a salary that did not get paid fully. (Doc. 554, *FOF and Conclusions of Law*, pp. 2–3).

These Defendants. During the course of this brief, the phrase “these Defendants” will refer to all four Defendants which have appealed.

Plaintiffs/Farmers. The terms “Plaintiffs” and “Farmers” will be used interchangeably to reference Appellees—a large group of Montana farmers.

B. Facts.

Although the record in this case is huge and the documentary evidence piles high, there are relatively few facts and virtually no disputed material facts. Around 2018, Hemp became a legal crop, substantially freed from regulatory burdens by the United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) and the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). (Tr. 1110–12). As such, it looked as if the hemp crop could be very valuable to produce materials including CBD oil, an important byproduct of

the hemp that does not carry THC and was trading at extraordinarily high values. Canadian investors apparently thought they could capitalize on this potential by having Montana farmers raise hemp, processing it in Eureka, Montana, through Eureka 93, and marketing the CBD oil at very high prices.

Montana rancher Beau Anderson (“Beau”) was one of the Farmers and the self-appointed spokesman for the Plaintiff/Farmer group. (Tr. 211). He had been farming since 2002, received a bachelor’s degree in agricultural education, and had taught agriculture and farm ranch management courses in high school and college for many years. (Tr. 183–84). The one to first get the group of Farmers together, Beau arranged a meeting at the American Legion Club in Bainville, Montana. (Tr. 186–87). Beau learned about the hemp opportunities through his brother Ty Anderson. (Tr. 184–85). Because Beau was unwilling to commit the amount of acreage which the hemp industry wanted, he called upon other friends and farmers who he thought might be interested in growing this new crop. (Tr. 185–86).

In Spring 2018, the Farmers entered a series of nearly identical agreements with USA Biofuels to plant hemp. *See, e.g.*, (Appx. 1–4, *Beau Anderson Contract*). Each contract included a section called “**Minimum Acre Guaranty**” in which the Farmers were provided hemp seed and afforded a first payment of \$100 per acre to plant the seed. *See, e.g.*, (Appx. 2, *Beau Anderson Contract*, ¶ 8). There was also a second

payment, not characterized as guaranteed, stating that, upon successful raising, harvesting, and baling of the hemp, the Farmers would be paid “\$500.00 per acre for dryland or \$700.00 per acre irrigated” hemp. *See, e.g., (Id., ¶ 7)*. One-half of these payments would be paid “when the product [wa]s baled and ready for shipment” and one-half thirty (30) days later. *See, e.g., (Id.)*. Each contract expressly contained the following provision:

6. Ownership of Hemp Crop: Because Buyer [(USA Biofuels)] is supplying the seed and is contracting Grower through this production service agreement, **the hemp crop and any excess Seed will at all times be owned by Buyer.**

See, e.g., (Id., ¶ 6) (emphasis added).

Summer 2018, the Farmers received the seed they were promised, albeit late, and, likewise, received the payments that were denominated “minimum acre guaranty” payments in the contract—\$100 per acre. (Tr. 195, 680). Over the course of the summer and into the fall of 2018, the Farmers harvested and baled the hemp and put it at the edge of their fields, entitling them to \$500 per dryland acre, and \$700 per irrigated acre under the contracts with USA Biofuels. (Tr. 667, 681–82, 814–16, 878–79). Those monies were promised but never paid.

When delayed, Hoggan communicated that he was helping to secure fulfillment of the “minimum acre guaranty” payments under the contract, with the following description provided by Beau: “[Hoggan] is once again assuring us that we’re going

to get paid our \$100 acre payment and giving us excuses as to why we haven't received it yet." (Tr. 195). Beau's rendition of the sequence was correct, and the "minimum acre guaranty" payments were made and received three weeks later. (*Id.*).

Beau's history in this case includes numerous conversations with an unserved Defendant named Greg Ranger ("Ranger") (Tr. 200), who signed each of the contracts on behalf of USA Biofuels (*see, e.g.,* Appx. 4, *Beau Anderson Contract*). Ranger was responsible for communication with Beau for the company through September 2017. (Tr. 202). Thereafter, Shirley was hired to be an operating officer and took over the financial discussions with Beau. (*Id.*). Beau summarizes that, in his first discussion with Shirley, Shirley stated "they were struggling to find finances." (*Id.*). Beau testified that, in their second material communication, Shirley stated "Vitality Natural Health will be paying in full for all hemp bales before they are removed from [the Farmers' properties]." (Tr. 203; Ex. 24, p. 5). Shirley never had an executive title beyond chief operating officer and was certainly never in charge of the company's finances. (Tr. 385).

Following Shirley's arrival, David Rendimonti, on behalf of USA Biofuels/Eureka 93, talked to Beau and said the farmers were not going to get paid under the current contractual relationship. (Tr. 217). Beau not only has a recollection of this conversation, it was memorialized in a December 31, 2018, email Beau sent to

everyone in the group of Farmers, which was introduced at trial. (Tr. 217–19; Ex. 24–27). In Beau’s words, Rendimonti “made it clear that the present discussion of the situation in which [the Farmer’s] were going to get paid [wa]s not going to happen.” (Tr. 219).

Attorney Cort Jensen (“Jensen”), for the Montana Department of Agriculture, became the point man in dealing with USA Biofuels and its other entities, Eureka 93 and Vitality. (Tr. 1112–13). Jensen interacted with an attorney and corporate officer, Tim McCunn (“McCunn”) from Canada. (Tr. 1113). As for David Cowen (corporate representative of Surety Land, in this case), Kenney, Hoggan, and Shirley, Jensen never met these folks nor dealt with them until the first day of Jensen’s testimony at trial in June 2021. (Tr. 1115–16). McCunn was the person with authority to make decisions on behalf of USA Biofuels or its related Canadian entities, and McCunn never mentioned to Jensen that he was reporting to Kenney, Hoggan, or Shirley. (Tr. 1116–17).

Jensen was working on behalf of the State Department of Agriculture to see if USA Biofuels would release the hemp bales to the farmers so they could sell the bales and satisfy part of the debt. (Tr. 1072–73). During trial, an issue came up as to whether or not USA Biofuels or its members had threatened criminal sanctions if the farmers decided to sell the bales. (Tr. 1299–1300). Jensen confirmed that other

companies unrelated to USA Biofuels made that threat, but USA Biofuels had not. (Tr. 1120). Jensen’s investigation revealed that, in late 2018, the monies had arrived in the hands of the Canadian investors but, instead of paying the Farmers, the money went to buy a CBD processing plant in New Mexico. (Tr. 1067–68). Jensen opined that the people he was dealing with in Canada for USA Biofuels “weren’t candid.” (Tr. 1121–23). However, when asked who the liars were, he said mostly McCunn. (*Id.*). But even Jensen described that the core problem was “the lack of timely payment.” (Tr. 1122).

Ultimately, by September 2019, USA Biofuels/Eureka 93 abandoned the hemp crop. (Tr. 772, 949–50). Some of the Farmers sold it and some of them did not. (Tr. 944, 950). By that time, the market for CBD oil crashed, thus the value of the hemp in the field crashed. (Tr. 607–08). As their only asset was the raw material for valueless CBD oil—hemp—the value of companies like USA Biofuels and Eureka 93 crashed as well. The few Farmers who took advantage of repossession of the bales did not make much money.

The Farmers filed this suit in mid-2018 when the “minimum acre guaranty” payments were past due and amended their claims after those first payments were made but the subsequent payments became past due. (Doc. 328, *First Am. Compl.*). Although the Farmers were aggravated that they received the first payments and seed

later than agreed, they ultimately sought no remedy nor other relief for these delays. This suit is entirely about the failure to make the second payments under the contracts.

There was no material difference in the experiences of any of the Farmers; they all signed the same contract with Beau as their primary contact, got paid for the first installment but not the second, and—when asked—agreed this lawsuit would never have occurred if the contract had been performed. (Tr. 1196). Furthermore, none of these Defendants were demonstrated to have any direct or indirect involvement with the contract formation nor with marketing the USA Biofuels program to the Farmers. The Farmers had not even heard of these Defendants until litigation began, except a few of the Farmers knew of Shirley only due to Shirley's late involvement in trying to salvage the operation.

The following list comprises nearly every other Plaintiff/Farmer or Plaintiff witness in this case who testified on behalf of himself or his corporation: Wyatt Handy ("Handy"); Tom Enander ("Enander") on behalf of Enander Seed Farm, LLP; Lawrence Romo ("L. Romo"); Jess Romo; Gy Salvevolb ("Salvevolb"); Dusty Berwick ("D. Berwick") on behalf of Bears Coulee Ranch, LLC; Matt Berwick on behalf of Berwick Farms, LLC; Nolan Nelson ("N. Nelson"); Paydon Nelson; Dean Nelson ("D. Nelson") on behalf of Nelson Farms; Brian Prevost ("Prevost"); David Picard ("D. Picard"); Chase Picard; Ty Anderson; Dave Anderson; Dave Granley;

Keith Groh; Loren Schledewitz (“Schledewitz”); Doug Smith (“Smith”) on behalf of DSF Logistic; and Chris Hansen (“Hansen”).

Those who testified on these issues were virtually unanimous. *See, e.g.*, (Tr. 309–12 (Handy’s testimony)); (Tr. 646–49 (Enander confirming “[his] dealings were with USA Biofuels”)); (Tr. 661–63 (L. Romo’s testimony)); (Tr. 670–72 (Salvevolb’s testimony)); (Tr. 688–90 (D. Berwick’s testimony)); (Tr. 718–21 (N. Nelson’s testimony)); (Tr. 828–32 (D. Nelson’s testimony, including that his only clear recollection of being told he could not sell the hemp bales came from his own attorney)); (Tr. 851–53 (Prevost’s testimony, including that he did no investigation before entering the contract with USA Biofuels, and did not know where the money was to be coming from or if it was coming at all)); (Tr. 896, 898 (D. Picard’s testimony)); (Tr. 874, 877, 882–84 (Schledewitz’s testimony)); (Tr. 259, 261–66 (Smith’s testimony, including description of what he believed to be dishonest conduct of the Defendants regarding the representations on payment, stating that, if the representations were true, “we’d all been paid by now”)).

Chris Hansen was another one of the Farmers who relied on Beau for communication with USA Biofuels. (Tr. 318–19). Hansen pointed out that on December 12, 2018, Shirley, on behalf of USA Biofuels, was forecasting that fifty percent of the necessary money to pay for the crop would be coming through. (Tr.

330–31; Ex. 24–171). In fact, the exact words of the email were “I’m pleased to inform you that we will be issuing the next payment of 50% of your outstanding balances Friday[,]” December 14, 2018. (*Id.*) Just two weeks later, Beau passed along Rendimonti’s message that *only* fifty percent of the money would be coming, and the Farmers would have to surrender the bales immediately but agree to take the rest of the money at a later date, under a new contract. The Farmers rejected it. (Tr. 220–23).

Hansen’s claimed emotional distress was more extensive than what was alleged by the other Farmers, but similar. He testified that the financial implications of the 2018 hemp experience made it “stressful” (Tr. 335) and that, “[e]motionally[,] it was tough” (*id.*) because they had a new bank at the time and wanted to build a good relationship but the bank started to doubt their ability to perform (Tr. 336). Hansen claimed that he had sleepless nights and tough discussions with his loan officers and with his wife. (*Id.*)

However, like the other Farmers, Hansen knew nothing about Kenney, Shirley, Hoggan, nor Surety Land before entering the contracts, he did not rely on these entities in any way to enter the contract (Tr. 340–43), and he heard about Rendimonti for the first time in December 2018, when Rendimonti told Beau and others that money was not on the way (Tr. 343–46). Hansen affirmed what every other farmer

who spoke of the issue did, that if USA Biofuels would have kept its promise and paid the money there would have never been a trial and that everything from this case came from the failure to pay money they promised to pay. (Tr. 341–42, 1196).

On this set of largely undisputed facts, Plaintiffs abandoned any contract claim and secured a tort judgment of about \$65 million based on a multitude of theories.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether there was sufficient evidence to support the verdict awarding tort relief is reviewed *de novo*. *Giambra v. Kelsey*, 2007 MT 158, ¶ 26, 338 Mont. 19, 162 P.3d 134 (citations omitted). The granting of a motion for summary judgment, as to the alter ego claim, is reviewed *de novo*. *Hanson v. Water Ski Mania Ests.*, 2005 MT 47, ¶ 11, 326 Mont. 154, 108 P.3d 481.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The principal argument advanced by these Defendants is that the relationships and grievances between USA Biofuels/Eureka 93 and the Plaintiffs was purely contractual. Therefore, as the result of the proven breach of the contract, Plaintiffs' proper remedies were contract remedies, only, not tort remedies, and the tort-based jury verdict should be reversed as a matter of law.

The District Court erred in granting summary judgment on the alter ego claim against the shareholder Defendants, Kenney, Hoggan, and Surety Land, because the

“alter ego” determination is always a fact-intensive inquiry and, also, the ruling was substantively incorrect.

If resolution of these two issues does not moot the remaining issues, these Defendants are entitled to a new trial because (a) the verdict was dramatically inconsistent with itself and was the result of passion or prejudice; and (b) the Defendants were denied the right to a properly instructed jury. Toward the end of trial, Defendants offered an instruction which the District Court ruled was a correct statement of the applicable law supported by the facts presented, but the instruction was relegated only to being argued by defense counsel. This was improper because arguments of counsel cannot substitute for instructions by the trial court.

VI. ARGUMENT

Section 25-11-102, MCA, allows a former verdict or other decision to be vacated in a number of instances¹ when the substantial rights of the aggrieved party are materially affected. As further discussed, below, these Defendants’ substantial rights were materially prejudiced by multiple errors in law made by the District Court, there was not sufficient evidence presented to support the jury’s verdict, and—at any

¹ These enumerated instances include the following:

- (5) excessive damages appearing to have been given under the influence of passion or prejudice;
- (6) insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict or other decision or that it is against law;
- (7) error in law occurring at the trial and excepted to by the party making the application.

§ 25-11-102, MCA.

rate—the damages awarded were excessive and without basis in law or fact.²

A. THIS MATTER IS A PURE CONTRACT DISPUTE, NOT A TORT CASE OF ANY KIND, AND ONLY CONTRACT DAMAGES ARE AVAILABLE.

1. By Any Measure, This Is A Contract Case.

“As a general rule, when a party’s claim is based solely upon a breach of the specific terms of an agreement, the action sounds in contract.” *Dewey v. Stringer*, 2014 MT 136, ¶ 8, 375 Mont. 176, 325 P.3d 1236 (citing *Billings Clinic v. Peat Marwick Main & Co.*, 244 Mont. 324, 338, 797 P.2d 899, 908 (1990)). This Court has said, “we will not allow a party’s characterization of an issue to eclipse its substance” *Gottlob v. DesRosier*, 2020 MT 210, ¶ 11, 401 Mont. 50, 470 P.3d 188 (citation omitted). These Defendants are asking the Court to say this again. Plaintiffs’ multi-varied attempts to characterize this as a tort case cannot eclipse its substance: it is a contract case. And Plaintiffs have all but admitted this is true in that every witness, when asked, said the dispute would not have gone to court—at all—if the contracts with USA Biofuels had been performed. (Tr. 1196).

Under Montana law, some breaches of contract can create a tort claim, even contracts with a promise to pay money, and there are two types of tort claims that may grow from the breach of such a promise. The first large category is statutory, such as

² These arguments were raised in Defendants’ post-trial motions (Docs. 535, 538–39, 541–42, 544–45, 549) and disregarded by the District Court (Docs. 554, 557).

claims under the Unfair Trade Practices Act (“UTPA”), section 33-18-242, MCA. The other broad category of claims where the breach of a promise to pay money can be seen as tortious are those when a special relationship exists that can create a tortious breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. *See Story v. City of Bozeman*, 242 Mont. 436, 451, 791 P.2d 767, 776 (1990), *overruled in part on other grounds by Arrowhead Sch. Dist. No. 75, Park Cty. v. Klyap*, 2003 MT 294, ¶ 54, 318 Mont. 103, 79 P.3d 250 (quoting *Wallis v. Superior Ct.*, 160 Cal. App. 3d 1109, 1118 (Ct. App. 1984)) (adopting five elements in order to find this “special relationship” between contracting parties).

Also, if a person is fraudulently induced into a contract, the aggrieved party can sue on the contract or sue in fraud (or make a similar claim of deceit). *Id.* However, “[n]either the making of a promise to pay money in the future nor the failure to pay constitutes actionable fraud.” *Davis v. Church of LDS*, 258 Mont. 286, 293, 852 P.2d 640, 644 (1993), *overruled on other grounds by Gliko v. Permann*, 2006 MT 30, 331 Mont. 112, 130 P.3d 155 (citing *Roberts v. Mission Valley Concrete Indus.*, 222 Mont. 268, 721 P.2d 355 (1986)).

In this case, neither statutory claims nor a claim of a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing were alleged. There has been no allegation of a special relationship and, clearly, no evidence of a special relationship which would salvage

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