#### 08/05/2022

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0416

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Case No. DA 21-0416

JESS ROMO; BEAU ANDERSON; TY ANDERSON; BEARS COULEE RANCH, LLC; BERWICK FARMS, LLC; DSF LOGISTICS, INC.; DAVE GRANLEY; WAGNER HARMON; CHRIS HANSEN; NOLAN NELSON; CHASE PICARD; DAVID PICARD; ROMO BROS, LLP; TERRY TRAEGER; WYATT HANDY; KEITH KYLE GROH; NELSON FARMS; PAYDON NELSON; ENANDER SEED FARM, LLP; BRYAN PREVOST; AMBER ANDERSON; STEPHANIE ANDERSON; DAVID ANDERSON; LOREN SCHLEDEWITZ; GY SALVEVOD,

## Plaintiffs/Appellees,

VS.

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

constructive fraud, deceit, and negligence. The district court dismissed Dewey's tort claims on the ground that "her injuries resulted strictly from Stringer's breach of contract." *Dewey*, ¶ 11. This Court reversed, unanimously recognizing that duties arising out of common and statutory law are not nullified because the defendant also breached a contract—"[P]rohibitions on fraudulent and deceitful conduct under Montana law are not negated simply because the parties have entered into a contract concerning the same subject matter." *Dewey*, ¶ 15.

Similarly, Defendants' reliance on *Davis v. Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints*, 258 Mont. 286, 293, 852 P.2d 640, 644 (1993), overruled by *Gliko v. Permann*, 2006 MT 30, 331 Mont. 112, 130 P.3d 155, is inapposite. There, the plaintiff was injured at a property owned by the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints ("LDS"). LDS attempted to dissuade her from filing suit against them by allegedly promising to pay for her medical bills if she saw their doctor. *Davis*, 852 P.2d at 644. There, plaintiff's claims, including fraudulent inducement to contract, were based solely on this promise to pay and nothing more. *Davis*, 852 P.2d at 644. Because the promise to pay in the future alone was not a "representation of an existing fact," plaintiff could not satisfy the elements of her tort claims. *Davis*, 852 P.2d at 644.

The facts here are readily distinguishable from *Davis*. Unlike *Davis*, Farmers' claims are not for fraudulent inducement but stem from post-contract conduct.<sup>1</sup> Defendants made serial misrepresentations of fact after the breach, inducing Farmers not to act on breach remedies available to them. Defendant Vitality confirmed that "funds are in place and ready to go" due to a "significant fund raising." App. 8. Vitality also represented the existence of an "unanticipated delay." App. 8. Likewise, Defendant Shirley claimed to have actual, existing "tranches" of money available to pay Farmers for the services they rendered. Tr. 589.

A representation that a person or company has, in their possession, money to satisfy an already-lapsed obligation is different than a contractual promise to pay. Likewise, a representation that a payment was not made due to "wiring delays" is not a promise to pay, it is a factual representation explaining why something did not occur. While such representations could be made contemporaneous with a promise to pay, they are not the same. The District Court correctly distinguished between the two:

Besides promises to pay, Defendants made representations to induce Plaintiffs to wait on their rights. Specifically, Plaintiffs alleged that Defendants told them "tranches" of money were available and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Nor did Farmers assert claims for bad faith as the plaintiffs did in *Story v. City of Bozeman*, 242 Mont. 436, 791 P.2d 767 (1990). Defendants' bad faith and fraudulent inducement arguments are straw men.

payments ultimately failed because of "wiring delays." The Plaintiffs relied upon the representations made by Defendants and did not pursue legal remedies so they could sell the crop.

Dkt. 557, p. 3. The District Court correctly recognized that a party's breach of contract does not relieve them of tort liability for negligent, fraudulent, or deceitful misrepresentations that harm others.

## B. Defendants' Negligent Conduct is Actionable.

"Every person is bound, without contract, to abstain from injuring the person or property of another or infringing upon any of another person's rights." *Dewey*, ¶ 17 (citing § 28-1-201, MCA). The District Court correctly instructed the jury on negligence:

Negligence is the failure to use reasonable care. Negligence may consist of action or inaction. A person is negligent if he/she fails to act as an ordinarily prudent person would act under the circumstances.

Tr. 1357. The District Court also properly instructed the jury on the elements necessary to prove negligent misrepresentation. Tr. 1359. Defendants did not appeal on these issues.

Farmers agree that a breach of contract alone does "not constitute the sort of active negligence or misfeasance necessary to impose liability under tort law." Appellants' Opening Br., p. 17 (citing *Plakorus v. Univ. of Mont.*, 2020 MT 312, ¶ 16, 402 Mont. 263, 477 P.3d 311). Defendants' breach of contract, in of itself, does not

impose liability under tort law. At trial, Defendants attempted to paint Farmers' claims as breaches of contract and nothing else, repeatedly asking each if they would be at trial if Defendants had just paid per the subject contract. Each Farmer answered that they would not be at trial if the Defendants had not breached. See, e.g., Tr. 341-42, 1196. This line of questioning highlights Defendants' inability to recognize that breaches of duties and other tortious conduct committed outside of a contract are actionable. Of course, if Defendants had paid after harvest per the contracts, the parties would not have had any reason to interact with each other any further. It was Defendants' need for the hemp as an asset on their books that necessitated continued interaction with Farmers after non-payment. The breach merely kept the parties locked in the same room, where Defendants made serial misrepresentations of fact to Farmers and acted unreasonably to keep Farmers from enforcing their interests in the hemp crop.

As any person or entity would be, Defendants were bound, without contract, to act in accordance with the requisite standard of care—as an ordinarily prudent person or entity would, given the circumstances. Here, some of the circumstances included:

• Farmers had seeded, raised, and harvested hundreds of bales of industrial hemp. App. 31-32;

- Defendants failed to pay for the seed. Tr. 1002;
- At the time of harvest, the crop was marketable and had considerable value. App. 34;
- Following non-payment, Defendants refused to release the crop so that Farmers could salvage something for their efforts. Tr. 201-202, 941-944;
- Defendant Vitality agreed that it could not take ownership of the hemp prior to paying Farmers. App. 25;
- Instead, after a year of weathering, rodent infestation, and a fresh 2019
   hemp crop, Defendants released it to Farmers. Tr. 944, 607-608; App.
   44;
- Perfendants' motivation for withholding the hemp crop and stringing Farmers along was demonstrated by their need to keep it as an asset of Eureka 93 for an upcoming initial public offering ("IPO"). App. 48, 50; App. 35-37;
- Defendants stood to benefit greatly—some to the tune of hundreds of millions of dollars—if Eureka 93 had a successful IPO. App. 48, 50; and,

• Hoggan admitted that the crop should have been released sooner, when the bales were marketable and in good condition. Tr. 791-792.

These facts and circumstances supported the jury's verdict that Defendants acted unreasonably and breached their duties to act reasonably to the Farmers.

# C. Defendants' Fraudulent and Malicious Conduct Subjects Them to Liability for Punitive Damages.

Just as the existence of a contract does not absolve Defendants of liability for tortious conduct, it does not absolve them of punitive liability from fraudulent and malicious conduct. Defendants fail to cite any case in support of its argument that § 27-1-220(2)(a), MCA, is a broad shield that prevents a jury from leveling damages to punish defendants and deter intentional, malicious, and fraudulent conduct in cases where there is also breach of contract. The District Court properly rejected Defendants' characterization of this lawsuit as a "pure contract case:"

Those Defendants therefore assert that this is a pure contract case and that punitive damages are barred pursuant to §27-1-220(2)(a)(i)-(iii), MCA. This Court disagrees that this is a pure contract case. The torts that the Plaintiffs Contend, in the Pre-Trial Order, remain independent of the Breach of Contract claim that this Court has already addressed.

# Dkt. 521, Order Re: Pre-Trial Issues, pp. 4-5.

Consistent with the District Court's ruling, this Court has upheld awards of punitive damages in tort in conjunction with breach of contract claims. In *Grenfell* 

*v. Anderson*, 2002 MT 225, ¶80, 311 Mont. 385, 56 P.3d 326, this Court specifically affirmed that tort type damages, including punitive damages, may be available for contract-related torts, including fraud, despite the language of § 27-1-220(2)(a), MCA. See also *Daniels v. Dean*, 253 Mont. 465, 474, 833 P.2d 1078, 1084 (1992) ("The proven facts demonstrated the defendant breached the contract and entitling him to contract damages, and also that defendant tortiously interfered with plaintiff's business entitling him to punitive damages."). Section 27-1-220(2)(a), MCA, does not shield Defendants from punitive damages.

# II. The Court Need Not Address the District Court's Piercing of the Corporate Veil.

## A. The Piercing Order Does Not Apply to the Final Judgment Entered.

Per Rule 6(1), M.R.App.P., "a party may only appeal from a final judgment." Defendants admit the District Court's ruling with regards to piercing the corporate veil is inapplicable to the final judgment entered on Farmers' stand-alone tort claims. See Appellants' Opening Br., p. 21. Because there is no final judgment entered on the breach of contract claims, this issue is unripe and not subject to appeal.

# B. Defendants Acted in Concert and are Jointly and Severally Liable for Compensatory Damages.

Defendants are jointly and severally liable for compensatory damages based upon the jury's finding that they acted in concert, not because of the District Court's

piercing of the corporate veil. See § 27-1-703(3), MCA; Dkt. 527, p. 3. Defendants did not appeal any issue pertaining to the acting in concert instruction or the jury's verdict therefrom.

# C. Even if the Court Had to Address the Piercing of the Veil Nonissue, the District Court Correctly Pierced USA Biofuels' Corporate Veil.

Summary judgment is appropriate when the moving party demonstrates an absence of any genuine issue of material fact and its entitlement to judgment as a matter of law. *Walden v. Yellowstone Elec. Co.*, 2021 MT 123, ¶ 13, 404 Mont. 192, 487 P.3d 1. The party opposing the motion must come forward with substantial evidence raising a genuine issue of material fact. Rule 56(e), M.R.Civ.P. Such evidence must be in proper form and conclusions of law will not suffice; the "proffered evidence must be material and of a substantial nature, not fanciful, frivolous, gauzy or merely suspicious." *Morales v. Tuomi*, 214 Mont. 419, 424, 693 P.2d 532, 535 (1985). "Summary judgment may be appropriate when reasonable minds 'could not draw different conclusions from the evidence." *Walden*, ¶ 14.

Under Montana law, a person or other company is liable for a company's conduct if that company is their alter ego and it was used as a "subterfuge to defeat public convenience, justify wrong or to perpetrate fraud." *E.C.A. Envtl. Mgmt. Servs.*, *Inc. v. Toenyes*, 208 Mont. 336, 347, 679 P.2d 213, 219 (1984). Failure to comply

with statutory requirements, commingling of personal funds with corporate funds, whether the address of the corporation is the same as the defendant's, and undercapitalization are all factors which tend to prove that a company is the alter ego of a defendant. *Peschel Family Tr. v. Colonna*, 2003 MT 216, ¶ 26, 317 Mont. 127, 134, 75 P.3d 793, 797. The district court in *Peschel* pierced a corporate veil, relying on facts eerily similar to those here, and this Court affirmed its ruling. In *Peschel*, the defendant had loaned significant sums of money to their alter ego corporation. Further, the corporation was "undercapitalized" and "unable to meet" its liabilities and obligations standing alone. *Peschel*, ¶¶ 40-41. The corporation was set up by the defendant, controlled by the defendant, and provided the defendant with the opportunity to engage in suspect corporate transactions. *Peschel*, ¶¶ 6, 41.

Again, in their argument, Defendants omit key admitted facts to undermine the District Court's ruling. Farmers did not contend veil piercing was appropriate from undercapitalization alone as suggested by Defendants. Appellants' Opening Br., p. 25. There is a laundry list of evidence relied on by the District Court in determining USA Biofuels was the alter ego of Defendants Surety, Kenney, and Hoggan including:

• Documents filed by Surety in 2017 and 2018 unequivocally demonstrated that Surety formed USA Biofuels and that it was the sole

manager during all times relevant hereto. Dkt. 415, Pls.' Cross Mot. Summ. J. Re: Piercing USA Biofuels' Corp. Veil & Duty, Ex. F. Their corporate addresses were the same, and the agent for both was David Steffensen.<sup>2</sup> *Id*.

- usa Biofuels' 30(b)(6) representative, Defendant Shirley, testified that at the time of contracting with Farmers, Usa Biofuels had no money, no assets, and no bank account. Dkt. 415, Ex. A (Shirley depo.), p. 42.
- USA Biofuels' sole purpose was to obtain and execute farming contracts via the investment of its owners, Kenney and Hoggan. *Id.* Crucially, Shirley admitted USA Biofuels was a shell company "created as a special purpose vehicle that may or may not have any operations itself, but can be used to affect the transaction." *Id.*, pp. 116-119.
- When it came time to pay the seeding portion of the contract entered into by USA Biofuels, co-Defendant Vitality paid. Vitality is yet another spin-off Kenney and Hoggan operation that was formed by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>At the summary judgment hearing, Farmers pointed out that Mr. Steffensen was also practicing law before the Montana District Court without a license. *See* Dkt. 442, p. 2. He was subsequently cited for contempt. Dkt. 479, Contempt Citation David Steffenson. Surety failed to make a lawful appearance before the District Court in violation of § 37-61-210, MCA, and was also cited by the Court. Dkt. 478, Contempt Citation David Cowan. Thus, Surety failed to make any lawful objection to Plaintiffs' motion.

Kenney on August 4, 2017. Dkt. 415, Ex. B. Again, Utah attorney David Steffensen was listed as the registered agent. *Id*.

• USA Biofuels was formed four days after Vitality Natural Health. Dkt. 415, Ex. F. Decisions about whether or not to pay Farmers on behalf of USA Biofuels were being made by Kenney for Vitality. Dkt. 415, Ex. A to Plaintiff's Cross Motion, Shirley Depo., p. 169.

The Court also noted USA Biofuels failed to register to do business in Montana. Dkt. 442, Order Den. Defs.' Mot. & Grant. Pls.' Mot. Summ. J. Re: Piercing the Corp. Veil, p. 3. Thus, the District Court ruled:

As admitted by Shirley, the purpose of USA Biofuels was nothing more than a shell company buffer between Farmers and Defendants. Using a shell company to avoid contractual obligations, as is the case here, is bad faith conduct justifying piercing of the corporate veil.

*Id.*, p. 4.

The District Court also held that Defendants' failed to provide substantial evidence raising a genuine issue of material fact, finding only a "gauzy story about how [Defendants] sold USA Biofuels down the road to other companies in which they also have a significant ownership stake in." *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>At the time Defendants were attaching self-serving documents to the District Court to oppose summary judgment, they were also withholding relevant documentation from Farmers in discovery. *See* Farmers' Mots. Compel against Defendants Hoggan and Surety (Dkt. 401, 402) granted via District Court Orders (Dkt. 433, 443, respectively).

The District Court's determination given the circumstances above was proper and should not be disturbed. Regardless, the issue is not ripe and is moot, as the final judgment contemplates recoverable tort damages only.

## III. The Jury's Verdict Should Stand.

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